STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_

Certiorari to Kershaw County

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_

MITCHELL LOGAN HINSON,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-001643

\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

\_\_\_\_\_

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL  
RECEIVED  
APR 26 2019  
S.C. SUPREME COURT  
PETITIONER

**

## ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for allowing the jury to view Petitioner in leg shackles as he walked to the witness stand to testify?
2. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the State's use of Petitioner's prior conviction for receiving stolen goods for impeachment purposes?
3. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the Allen<sup>2</sup> charge when the jury had not yet indicated that it was deadlocked?
4. Did the PCR judge err in finding that Petitioner knowingly and intelligently waived his right to a direct appeal?
5. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective in failing try to obtain a plea agreement that would allow concurrent sentences for the burglary and a probation revocation?

---

<sup>2</sup> Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492, 17S.Ct.154, 41 L.Ed.528 (1896).

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial judge err in refusing to conduct a hearing and grant Petitioner's motion for a new trial based on an allegation that the jury foreman failed to disclose his relationship with both the victim and Petitioner?

## STATEMENT

In March of 2011, the Kershaw County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Mitchell Logan Hinson, for burglary first degree, indictment #2011-GS-28-0220. On June 27, 2011, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable L. Casey Manning. Neil Riley represented Petitioner at trial. Ron Moak prosecuted the case. The jury returned a verdict of guilty and Judge Manning sentenced Petitioner to fifteen (15) years. On July 8, 2011, Petitioner filed a motion for a new trial. (App. p. 205). On November 3, 2015, while the motion for new trial was still pending, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief [PCR]. The application was dismissed without prejudice because the motion for a new trial was still pending. In an order signed March 24, 2016, filed April 4, 2016, the trial judge denied the motion for a new trial.

On November 4, 2016, Petitioner filed a second PCR application. Petitioner filed an amended application on May 24, 2017. The State filed a return on June 23, 2017. On July 19, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. Kristy Goldberg represented Petitioner at the PCR hearing. Jessica Kinard represented the State. In a written order filed April 12, 2018, Judge Cooper denied relief and dismissed the application. A timely motion to alter or amend was filed April 24, 2018, and then denied on September 5, 2018. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on September 10, 2018. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate courts defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (citing Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). The appellate courts review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts. Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (citing Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)). Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, (2018).

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052). First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–88, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “Under this prong, ‘[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.’” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel's performance in such a manner that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id.

## ARGUMENTS

1. **The PCR judge erred in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for allowing the jury to see Petitioner in leg shackles as he walked to the witness stand to testify.**

The jury found Petitioner guilty of going into a school mate's house at night and taking a Play Station Three gaming system console, three games, a game controller and a watch. The items were all returned. (App. p. 67, lines 15-17). Petitioner was seventeen years old at the time of trial. (App. p. 308, lines 18-19). Petitioner took the stand and testified at his trial. When he was called to the witness stand the following took place:

The Court: Come around, Mr. Hinson.

(Whereupon, the Defendant came forward to be sworn by the Clerk)

The Court: Stop. Go back around, son.

(Colloquy at the bench between counsel and the Court off the record)

The Court: Mr. Foreman, members of the jury, I have a matter that I need to take up in your absence. Don't talk about it; go to your jury room.

(Jury excused from Courtroom)

The Court: Is he still shackled?

Mr. Riley [Trial counsel]: Yes, sir.

The Court: Take them off. When you put him on the witness stand, you have to take them off. Anybody can see that. You all have to help me out. I can't see everything that goes on. I'm shocked. We'll take a short break.

(App. p. 132, lines 2-19).

In the amended application for post-conviction relief Petitioner alleged, "Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to ensure that the jurors did not witness Applicant in leg

shackles.” (App. p. 219). During the PCR hearing, when asked about the jury viewing Petitioner in leg shackles, trial counsel testified, “Right. That’s when I – the judge asked, call your next witness, and I called Mr. Hinson. He came out from around from where he was seated at the table. And that was the first time that I -- that it registered in my mind that he was still shackled. I take full blame for it. I should have noticed it and made sure that didn’t happen. Judge Manning was perturbed, as you can imagine. I was also. He did ask – he excused the jury. So, you, I take full responsibility for that mistake.” (App. p. 265, lines 4-14). When asked if Petitioner was visible to the jury when he approached the witness stand in leg shackles, counsel answered, “Oh, yeah.” (App. p. 289, lines 20-23). Trial counsel admitted that this was totally his fault and an oversight he deeply regretted. (App. p. 290, lines 1-7).

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge cited Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001), and Holbrook v. Flynn, 475 U.S. 560 (1986), and without specifically finding deficient performance, found no prejudice. (App. pp. 334-335). The PCR judge wrote, “In the present case, there is overwhelming evidence establishing Applicant was guilty of the charged offense, including an identification by a victim who knew Applicant by sight and testimony from a cooperating co-defendant. This Court finds there is no reasonable likelihood the result of Applicant’s trial would have been different but for the fact that the jury saw Applicant in shackles. For these reasons, this allegation is denied and dismissed.” (App. p. 335). The PCR judge erred. Trial counsel was deficient in allowing the jury to view Petitioner in leg shackles as he approached the witness to testify. Petitioner was prejudiced by the deficient performance.

#### **A. Deficient Performance**

Trial counsel admitted that he should not have allowed the jury to view Petitioner in leg shackles. (App. p. 265, lines 4-14). In Deck v. Missouri, 544 U.S. 622, 624, 125 S. Ct. 2007,

2009, 161 L. Ed. 2d 953 (2005), the United States Supreme Court wrote, “We hold that the Constitution forbids the use of visible shackles during the penalty phase, as it forbids their use during the guilt phase, *unless* that use is ‘justified by an essential state interest’—such as the interest in courtroom security—specific to the defendant on trial. Holbrook v. Flynn, 475 U.S. 560, 568–569, 106 S.Ct. 1340, 89 L.Ed.2d 525 (1986); see also Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 343–344, 90 S.Ct. 1057, 25 L.Ed.2d 353 (1970).” In the present case there is nothing in the record to justify the use of leg shackles in view of the jury.

In Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001), the South Carolina Supreme Court found that trial counsel was deficient for allowing the trial to proceed while petitioner was dressed in prison clothing but found no prejudice. The present case can be distinguished from the finding of no prejudice in Humbert, as discussed below. Like the trial counsel in Humbert, however, trial counsel in the present case was deficient for allowing the jury to view Petitioner in leg shackles. The PCR judge erred in failing to make a specific finding of deficient performance.

### **B. Prejudice**

In determining if a PCR applicant has met his burden of proving prejudice the PCR court should consider the strength of the State’s case along with the specific impact of counsel’s error. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). “In rare cases, using ‘overwhelming evidence’ as a categorical bar to preclude a finding of prejudice is not error.” Id. 422 S.C. at 190, 810 S.E.2d at 844. The State’s evidence in the present case is not such that it would bar a finding of prejudice. The State’s evidence consisted of a surveillance video from the security system installed by the homeowner and testimony from a co-defendant who was allowed to resolve his charges in family court in exchange for his cooperation.

In contrast, Humbert may have been one of the rare cases where the overwhelming evidence served as a categorical bar to finding prejudice. In Humbert the Court found that counsel was deficient for allowing the trial to proceed with the petitioner dressed in prison clothing. The Court, however, found no prejudice writing:

We find the evidence of record supports the PCR judge's conclusion petitioner was not prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance. The store clerk identified petitioner as the robber shortly after the crime and, then again, at trial. The clerk's description of the perpetrator's clothing matched the clothing petitioner was wearing approximately 1 ½ hours after the robbery. A blue "Lincoln-Mercury" jacket and baseball cap with the letter "A" on it-items which the clerk stated the robber was wearing-were found in petitioner's vehicle. Petitioner was driving a truck which matched the description of the getaway vehicle. Food and postage stamps were found in the backseat of the patrol car after petitioner was removed from the vehicle. The clerk testified food and postage stamps had been taken from the cash register. Due to the overwhelming evidence against petitioner, there is not a reasonable probability the outcome of his trial would have been different had petitioner not been dressed in his prison jumpsuit.

345 S.C. at 338, 548 S.E.2d at 865–66. The State's evidence in Humbert was far greater than the State's evidence in the present case.

The jury struggled to reach a verdict in this case. While the jury never announced that it was deadlocked, the trial judge gave an Allen charge after the jury returned the next morning to continue deliberating. (App. pp. 178-192). In Deck v. Missouri, 544 U.S. 622, 635, 125 S. Ct. 2007, 2015–16, 161 L. Ed. 2d 953 (2005), the Court, addressing the State's argument that Deck suffered no prejudice wrote:

The third argument fails to take account of this Court's statement in Holbrook that shackling is "inherently prejudicial." 475 U.S., at 568, 106 S.Ct. 1340. That statement is rooted in our belief that the practice will often have negative effects, but—like "the consequences of compelling a defendant to wear prison clothing" or of forcing him to stand trial while medicated—those effects "cannot be shown from a trial transcript." Riggins, supra at 137, 112 S.Ct. 1810. Thus, where a court, without adequate justification, orders the defendant to wear shackles that will be seen by the jury, the defendant need not demonstrate actual prejudice to make out a due process violation. The State must prove "beyond a reasonable doubt that the [shackling] error complained of did not contribute to the verdict

obtained.” Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967).

The inherently prejudicial nature of the jury viewing Petitioner in leg shackles in the present case where there was not overwhelming evidence of guilt meets the prejudice requirement of Strickland. Petitioner is entitled to relief.

**2. The PCR judge erred in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the State’s use of Petitioner’s prior conviction for receiving stolen goods for impeachment purposes.**

Prior to Petitioner testifying at trial the State moved to admit a receiving stolen goods conviction from 2010. (App. pp. 112-113). The trial judge ruled that the State could use the conviction for impeachment purposes because receiving stolen goods was a crime of moral turpitude. (App. p. 113, lines 2-15). Trial counsel agreed that receiving stolen goods was a crime of moral turpitude and did not object. (App. p. 113, line 4). The State questioned Petitioner about the receiving stolen goods conviction on cross examination. (App. p. 136, lines 1-18).

In the amended application for post-conviction relief Petitioner alleged, “Ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to admission the Applicant’s prior conviction for Receiving Stolen Goods.” (App. p. 219). During the PCR hearing trial counsel testified that he believed the prior conviction for receiving stolen goods was admissible because it was within ten years and was a crime of moral turpitude. (App. p. 290, line 18 – p. 291, lines 1-3). Trial counsel admitted that he did not argue the prior conviction was more prejudicial than probative because of the theft similarity between the prior and the burglary for which Petitioner stood trial. (App. p. 291, line 4 – p. 292, lines 1-8).

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge noted in a footnote that the common law rule applying the moral turpitude standard was no longer appropriate in light of the adoption of the Rules of Evidence in 1995. (App. p. 335). The PCR judge, however, found trial counsel was not ineffective writing, “At the time of Applicant’s trial in 2011, receiving stolen goods was recognized as a crime of dishonesty pursuant to Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE. See State v. Williams, 380 S.C. 336, 669, S.E.2d 640 (Ct.App.b2008) (acknowledging a witness’ conviction for receiving stolen goods was a crime of dishonesty). Therefore, counsel was not ineffective for failing to object or otherwise present an argument as to why Applicant’s prior conviction for receiving stolen goods should have been inadmissible for impeachment purposes.” (App. p. 336). The PCR judge erred.

#### **A. Deficient Performance**

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to challenge the State’s use of the prior receiving stolen goods conviction. Trial counsel operated under the outdated moral turpitude standard. The correct standard is found in Rule 609(a), SCRE, which provides:

For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness,

- (1) evidence that a witness other than an accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and evidence that an accused has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused; and
- (2) evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of the punishment.

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to argue that the prejudicial effect of the prior receiving stolen goods conviction outweighed the probative value pursuant to Rule 609(a). In

Green v. State, 338 S.C. 428, 433–34, 527 S.E.2d 98, 101 (2000), the South Carolina Supreme

Court wrote:

We decline to hold similar prior convictions inadmissible in all cases. Trial courts must weigh the probative value of the prior convictions against their prejudicial effect to the accused and determine, in their discretion, whether to admit the evidence. The following factors, along with any other relevant factors, should be considered:

1. The impeachment value of the prior crime.
2. The point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history.
3. The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime.
4. The importance of the defendant's testimony.
5. The centrality of the credibility issue.

See State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000).

The trial court in the present case did not weigh the probative value of the prior conviction against the prejudicial effect because trial counsel failed to challenge the admission of the prior conviction. Trial counsel was deficient. In the motion to alter or amend judgment PCR counsel wrote, “Trial counsel could have also requested that the Court conduct an analysis regarding the general probative value of the prior conviction weighed against its prejudicial effect. Finally, counsel could and should have requested the Court to conduct a 403 analysis on the matter specifically focusing on the fact that the conviction for Receiving Stolen Goods is substantially similar to what was being alleged in the Burglary trial and accordingly is overly prejudicial.” (App. p. 345). Trial counsel did not challenge the prior conviction as more prejudicial than probative pursuant to Rule 609(a), SCRE because he erroneously believed the outdated moral turpitude standard applied.

Additionally, trial counsel failed to argue that the receiving stolen goods conviction was inadmissible because it did not involve dishonesty or false statement. See State v. Broadnax, 414 S.C. 468, 473, 779 S.E.2d 789, 791 (2015). In the motion to alter or amend judgment PCR counsel wrote, “However, in the Applicant’s case the Court did not determine that this

conviction involved a dishonest act or false statement because trial counsel failed to present any argument whatsoever regarding use of this prior conviction for impeachment purposes. Trial Counsel could have argued that a conviction for receiving stolen goods is not a crime which ‘involves some element of deceit, untruthfulness, or falsification bearing on the accused’s propensity to testify truthfully.’ State v. Broadnax, 414 S.C. 468 477 (2015).”

The PCR judge’s reliance on State v. Williams, 380 S.C. 336, 669 S.E.2d 640 (Ct. App. 2008), is misplaced because the Court in Williams did not find that receiving stolen goods was a crime of dishonesty. Instead, the Court, finding harmless any error in not allowing evidence of the CI’s prior convictions for armed robbery, larceny and housebreaking, wrote, “Further, the CI was already impeached with admission of his conviction of receiving stolen goods, a crime the CI acknowledged before the jury was a crime of dishonesty. The CI’s credibility was clearly called into question by this, along with his admission he had spent half of his life in the penitentiary and his refusal to characterize himself as honest.” 380 S.C. at 345, 669 S.E.2d at 645.

## **B. Prejudice**

The PCR judge did not address the prejudice prong because he did not find deficient performance. As discussed above, trial counsel was deficient. There is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different. In Green v. State, 338 S.C. 428, 434, 527 S.E.2d 98, 101 (2000), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, “In the instant case, evidence in the record supports the PCR court’s ruling that respondent was prejudiced by defense counsel’s failure to argue the prejudicial effect of the convictions outweighed their probative value. Respondent was impeached with evidence of two convictions for possession of cocaine that were four and five years old. His credibility was

critical, as the jury had to choose between his version of events and that of the SLED agents.” In the present case Petitioner was impeached with a recent prior conviction for receiving stolen goods. Petitioner’s credibility was critical. Petitioner was prejudiced by trial counsel’s failure to challenge admission of the prior conviction.

**3. The PCR judge erred in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the Allen charge when the jury had not yet indicated that they were deadlocked.**

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