STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

SEP 12 2019

CERTIORARI TO KERSHAW COUNTY  
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., PCR Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2018-001643

MITCHELL LOGAN HINSON,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SAMUEL L. KEY  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 103206

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. The PCR court correctly found no prejudice resulted from the jury seeing Petitioner in leg shackles because, in this case, there is no evidence whatsoever the jury would have rendered a different verdict had the error not been made.**

The State concedes trial counsel was deficient in allowing the jury to view Petitioner in leg shackles; however, as the PCR court correctly found, no prejudice resulted as there was no evidence the jury would have rendered a different verdict had the error not been made. The PCR court's legal conclusion is based upon its view of the properly admitted evidence presented against Petitioner at trial. The properly admitted evidence against Petitioner at trial was: (1) home security video footage of Petitioner entering the home at night; (2) the victims' in-court identification of Petitioner as the person in the video seen entering and leaving their home; (3) Petitioner's codefendant's testimony he was with Petitioner the night of the burglary, and they were the two individuals on the video; and (4) Petitioner's own testimony at trial he attempted to recover the stolen items and return them so that he would avoid being charged with first-degree burglary. Based on the above referenced properly admitted evidence, it is highly unlikely the jury would have returned a different verdict in this case.

To establish prejudice, the applicant must prove "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694). "In determining whether the applicant has proven prejudice, the PCR court should consider the specific impact counsel's error had on the outcome of the trial." *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 188, 810 S.E.2d 836, 843 (2018). "In general, the stronger the evidence presented by the State, the less likely the PCR court will find the applicant met his burden of proving prejudice." *Id.* "[T]he existence of 'overwhelming evidence' does not automatically preclude a finding of prejudice." *Id.* at 189, 810 S.E.2d at 844. "In rare cases, using 'overwhelming evidence' as a

categorical bar to preclude a finding of prejudice is not error.” *Id.* at 190, 810 S.E.2d at 844. “However, for the evidence to be ‘overwhelming’ such that it categorically precludes a finding of prejudice . . . the evidence must include something conclusive, such as a confession, DNA evidence demonstrating guilt, or a combination of physical and corroborating evidence so strong that the *Strickland* standard of ‘a reasonable probability . . . the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt’ cannot possibly be met.” *Id.* at 191, 810 S.E.2d at 845.

Petitioner argues the State’s evidence in this case is not such that would bar a finding of prejudice. Additionally, Petitioner argues the inherently prejudicial nature of the jury viewing Petitioner in leg shackles meets the prejudice requirement of *Strickland*. This argument is without merit.

Here, as instructed in *Smalls*, the PCR court did not make a categorical finding of no prejudice because there was “overwhelming evidence” of guilt; rather, the PCR court weighed the specific impact of trial counsel’s error against the properly admitted evidence presented in the case. *See Smalls*, 422 S.C. at 188, 810 S.E.2d at 843 (“In determining whether the applicant has proven prejudice, the PCR court should consider the specific impact counsel’s error had on the outcome of the trial.”). The jury briefly viewed Petitioner in leg shackles, and this was clearly error on trial counsel’s behalf. However, the jury also: (1) viewed the video of Petitioner and Bailey entering the home and leaving with the stolen items; (2) heard the Eubanks’ testimony they immediately recognized Petitioner from the video as Petitioner because their son grew up going to school and playing baseball with him; (3) heard Bailey’s testimony he was with Petitioner the night of the burglary, and they were the two individuals on the video; (4) heard Petitioner’s own testimony at trial that he attempted to recover the stolen items and return them so he would avoid being charged with first-degree burglary; and (5) heard Petitioner’s testimony he knew the Eubanks

family well, which gave credibility to the Eubanks' testimony they immediately recognized Petitioner from the video. Finally, while Petitioner maintained his innocence at trial, he admitted he entered the home and stole the items at the evidentiary hearing.

The PCR court considered all the above-referenced properly admitted evidence at trial, and Petitioner's admission he committed the crime at the PCR hearing, in considering whether Petitioner suffered prejudice from trial counsel's error. The PCR court's conclusion Petitioner suffered no prejudice from trial counsel's error is supported by the facts from trial and from the testimony at the PCR hearing; therefore, the PCR court did not err in finding no prejudice resulted from trial counsel's deficiency. As such, this allegation is without merit and certiorari should be denied on this issue.

**II. The PCR court correctly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the State's entry of Petitioner's prior conviction for receiving stolen goods for impeachment purposes because his prior conviction was admissible for such purpose.**

Petitioner testified on his own behalf at trial. (App. 133-52). Petitioner was convicted in 2010 for receiving stolen goods. (App. 112). The trial court ruled Petitioner's conviction for receiving stolen goods was a crime of moral turpitude and was therefore admissible for impeachment purposes, and trial counsel agreed. (App. 113-14). Thereafter, on direct examination, trial counsel asked Petitioner if he had any previous convictions, and Petitioner testified he previously pleaded guilty to receiving stolen goods. (App. 135).

Petitioner asserts trial counsel was ineffective because, at the time of trial, receiving stolen goods was not a crime or moral turpitude. The PCR court rejected Petitioner's argument and correctly found receiving stolen goods was a crime of moral turpitude; therefore, the PCR court found trial counsel was not deficient for eliciting such testimony on direct examination. (App. 335-36). Petitioner asserts trial counsel was deficient for failing to request the trial court conduct

a Rule 403, SCRE, analysis of the prior conviction as directed by Rule 609(a), SCRE. This argument is without merit because trial counsel articulated a reasonable strategy for eliciting Petitioner's prior conviction on direct examination.

Rule 609(a), SCRE, provides:

- (1) evidence that a witness other than an accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted, and evidence that an accused has been convicted of such a crime shall be admitted if the court determines that the probative value of admitting this evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the accused; and
- (2) evidence that any witness has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of the punishment.

Here, trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing he believed he would lose any objection to the previous conviction for receiving stolen goods. (App. 266-67). While trial counsel may have used the term "crime of moral turpitude," the crime of receiving stolen goods still falls under the standard of Rule 609(a)(2), SCRE, as a crime involving dishonesty. Therefore, trial counsel reasonably believed Petitioner would be impeached with his prior conviction.

Trial counsel attempted to mitigate the impeachment by asking Petitioner about the prior conviction on direct examination. This strategy is reasonable in light of the law at the time of Petitioner's trial, and also reasonable as a tactic to protect Petitioner's credibility in front of the jury. Therefore, trial counsel was not deficient because he acted reasonably in attempting to mitigate the State's impeaching evidence by asking Petitioner on direct examination about his prior conviction. *See Whitehead v. State*, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992) ("Courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.").

Because trial counsel acted reasonably by mitigating Petitioner's prior conviction, he was not deficient, and therefore not ineffective. Therefore, certiorari should be denied as to this issue.

**III. The PCR court correctly found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the *Allen* charge because the trial court's charge was proper and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in giving an *Allen* charge in this case.**

Petitioner does not challenge the substance of the trial court's *Allen* charge; rather, Petitioner argues the trial court improperly gave the *Allen* charge because there was no indication the jury was deadlocked, and therefore the trial court impermissibly *sua sponte* gave the *Allen* charge. Therefore, Petitioner argues trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's decision to give an *Allen* charge without indication the jury was deadlocked. This argument is without merit.

At first glance, Petitioner's argument appears to be a novel issue in South Carolina. However, this Court was presented with a similar situation in *State v. Darr*, 262 S.C. 585, 206 S.E.2d 870 (1974). The PCR court relied on *Darr* in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's *Allen* charge.

In *Darr*, the appellant argued the trial court erred in urging the jury to reach a verdict. *Darr*, 262 S.C. at 587, 206 S.E.2d at 870. However, this Court found the argument to be without merit because "[i]t is the duty of the trial [court] to urge the jury to agree upon a verdict provided [it] does not coerce them." *Id.* Petitioner attempts to distinguish the instant case from *Darr*, arguing the trial court's *Allen* charge coerced the jury to reach a verdict because the jury reached a verdict shortly after the trial court gave the *Allen* charge. This argument is without merit because Petitioner does not challenge the propriety of the *Allen* charge given. It is disingenuous to agree the wording of the charge was not coercive, but argue the charge was coercive just by being given without indication the jury was deadlocked. See *State v. Bridges*, 278 S.C. 447, 448, 298 S.E.2d

212, 212 (1982) (“The general rule in this State is that the conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the presiding judge and this Court will not interfere unless it clearly appears that the rights of the complaining party were abused or prejudiced in some way.”). Therefore, Petitioner’s argument is without merit.

Trial counsel recalled an in-chambers discussion regarding the trial court giving an *Allen* charge, but he could not recall the details of the discussion. Trial counsel stated he must not have objected based on those in chambers discussions. (App. 268-69). It was reasonable for trial counsel not to object to the trial court giving the *Allen* charge, as the conduct of trial is within the sound discretion of the trial court. Therefore, trial counsel was not deficient for failing to object to the trial court giving the *Allen* charge.

However, even if trial counsel had objected to the trial court’s issuance of the *Allen* charge, it is unlikely an appellate court would have found the trial court abused its discretion in issuing the *Allen* charge. *See Bridges*, 278 S.C. at 448, 298 S.E.2d at 212 (“[T]he conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the presiding judge.”). Because the trial court controls the conduct of a criminal trial, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in giving the *Allen* charge. Therefore, certiorari should be denied on this issue.

**IV. The PCR court’s factual finding that Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to a direct appeal is supported by the record where Petitioner prematurely filed an initial PCR application before his motions to reconsider and for a new trial had been ruled on, and then filed a second application once the trial court denied his motions.**

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to a direct appeal. This argument is without merit as the PCR court’s conclusion is based on its observation of the testimony presented at the PCR hearing.

In a PCR case, appellate courts will uphold the PCR court's factual findings if there is any evidence of probative value in the record to support them. *Sellner*, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527.

Here, the PCR court found Petitioner waived his right to a direct appeal because he filed a PCR application while his motions were still pending. (App. 208; 209; 250; 294). Thereafter, Petitioner filed a second PCR application after the motions were ruled on. The PCR court's findings are supported by the record. *Sellner*, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (stating the PCR court's factual findings will be upheld if supported by any evidence in the record). Therefore, certiorari should be denied as to this issue.

V. **The PCR court correctly found trial counsel was not ineffective for not attempting to negotiate a plea deal for Petitioner's burglary charge and probation revocation to run concurrently because trial counsel acted reasonably in his attempt to negotiate a plea deal for Petitioner.**

Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing he did not accept the State's first two plea offers because he was concerned that pleading guilty would lead to his probation being revoked. (App. 240-45). Because Petitioner never accepted the State's plea offers, the State withdrew the offers and indicated its intent to proceed to trial. (App. 315-21). Petitioner argues trial counsel was ineffective for failing to negotiate a plea agreement whereby Petitioner's probation violation would run concurrently to any sentence from the burglary charge. This argument is without merit because Petitioner is not entitled to any specific plea bargain.

A defendant has the right to effective assistance of counsel during the plea bargaining process, even if he ultimately elects to proceed to trial. *Judge v. State*, 321 S.C. 554, 471 S.E.2d 146 (1996). "[I]t is the prerogative of any person to waive his rights, confess, and plead guilty, under judicially defined safeguards, which are adequately enforced." *State v. Armstrong*, 263 S.C.

594, 597, 211 S.E.2d 889, 890 (1975). “However, a defendant has no constitutional right to plea bargain.” *Reed v. Becka*, 333 S.C. 676, 685, 511 S.E.2d 396, 401 (1999).

Here, the uncontroverted testimony established that trial counsel advised Petitioner of favorable plea offers from the State and advised Petitioner it was in Petitioner’s best interest to accept a plea offer due to the strong case the State would present at trial. However, Petitioner never accepted any of these offers due to his own hesitance and unwillingness to make a decision on whether to proceed to trial versus plead guilty. Notably, trial counsel testified at length regarding the difficulties he had with getting Petitioner to understand the consequences of rejecting plea offers, as well as the fact that the charges would not simply disappear as Petitioner wanted. (App. 260-64; 271-72). Trial counsel testified:

I tried to delay the solicitor as long as I could to keep that an active offer. [Petitioner] did not want to go to trial, but he did not want to plead. And I recall we discussed many times, what other choice was there? At any rate, the solicitor ended up pulling that offer off the table after I delayed him for as long as I possibly could.

(App 261).